A. INTRODUCTION 

When Anthony Aquiningoc returned to trial court for 

resentencing after his direct appeal, he complained of a conflict with his 

assigned attorney. The court let him represent himself but did not first 

ascertain Mr. Aquiningoc' s understanding of the nature and degree of 

punishment he faced, even though this information is essential to a 

valid waiver of counsel. 

Mr. Aquiningoc objected to his offender score calculation 

months before sentencing. The court asked the prosecution to prove his 

proper scoring. But the court included several offenses in his criminal 

history that were not included in the listed case history the State 

provided and another offense that the State agreed would not count as 

criminal history. The court imposed an exceptional sentence after the 

prosecutor argued that an uncharged crime should be considered as a 

significant reason to justify a sentence greater than the standard range. 

These errors require a new sentencing hearing. 

Finally, based on an intervening change in the law, Mr. 

Aquiningoc's convictions for second and fourth degree assault 

constitute a single unit of prosecution and the lesser conviction must be 

vacated. 



B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. Mr. Aquiningoc did not knowingly, intelligently, and 

voluntarily waive his right to counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth 

Amendment and article I, section 22. 

2. The court erroneously included convictions in Mr. 

Aquiningoc's offender score when the prosecution did not prove the 

validity of those convictions, contrary to the sentencing statutes and the 

constitutional guarantee of due process of law under the state and 

federal constitutions. 

3. Mr. Aquiningoc's convictions for second and fourth degree 

assault premised on a single course of conduct violate the state and 

federal constitutional prohibitions on double jeopardy. 

4. The prosecution impermissibly sought an exceptional 

sentence based on facts that were not proved to the jury as required by 

the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22. 

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. In a criminal case, an accused person's waiver of his right to 

counsel is presumed invalid absent affirmative evidence demonstrating 

the accused understood the risks at stake, including the potential 

punishment. The court did not ask Mr. Aquiningoc if he understood the 
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punishment he faced or explain what that punishment was. Has the 

prosecution met its burden of proving Mr. Aquiningoc validly waived 

his right to counsel? 

2. When a defendant notifies the prosecution that he objects to 

his offender score calculation, the prosecution must present evidence 

establishing the prior convictions used to prove the standard sentencing 

range. The prosecution did not present evidence of the offenses it used 

to calculate Mr. Aquiningoc's sentence and the court included one 

offense that the State agreed should not be counted. Does this lack of 

reliable evidence require remand for a new sentencing hearing? 

3. Assaultive acts that occur in the course of a single incident 

constitute one unit of prosecution and may not be separately punished 

under a recent Supreme Court decision in Villanueva-Gonzalez. I Mr. 

Aquiningoc was convicted of two counts of assault based on a single 

incident and separate punishment was imposed. Should this Court 

vacate his conviction for fourth degree assault based on this double 

jeopardy violation? 

4. The right to trial by jury prohibits the court from imposing an 

exceptional sentence based on facts that were not proven to the jury. 

3 



Although the jury authorized the State to seek an exceptional sentence 

based on a pattern of acts of domestic violence, the State did not present 

evidence that this pattern included a 1995 assault against his sister. 

When the State urged to the court to impose an exceptional sentence 

based on ajury-found aggravating factor but premised its argument on 

a different assault that was not presented to the jury, has it improperly 

sought an exceptional sentence based on facts not found by the jury? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

In Anthony Aquiningoc's initial direct appeal, this Court ruled 

he was entitled to a new sentencing hearing due to several errors. CP 45 

(COA 67604-1-1). His convictions for two counts of tampering with a 

witness violated double jeopardy, his exceptional sentence rested on an 

aggravating factor of unscored criminal history that should have been 

proved to the jury, the judgment and sentence listed offenses as 

convictions when Mr. Aquiningoc was not found guilty of those crimes, 

and the court prohibited him from having any contact with his young 

child without considering less restrictive alternatives. CP 36, 42-44. 

At his first appearance in court following the Court of Appeals 

mandate, he objected to his "felony scoring history" and asked the court 

I State v. Villanueva-Gonzalez, _ Wn.2d _ , 329 P.3d 78 (2014) 
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to examine it. RP 4-5.2 The prosecutor responded that she did not 

believe the court was pern1itted to reconsider his offender score because 

it was beyond the scope of the mandate. RP 6. The court continued the 

hearing to allow more time for preparation and directed the prosecutor 

to "prepare something for me" about his scoring history. RP 6-7. 

Immediately after this hearing, Mr. Aquiningoc filed a motion to 

discharge counsel, allow him to proceed pro se, and continue the 

sentencing hearing. CP 46. The motion complained that appointed 

counsel rarely spoke to him and was not adequately assisting him in 

preparing mitigating information for sentencing. CP 48-49. When he 

next appeared in court, he explained he planned on hiring another 

attorney. RP 9, 11. He told the court that ifhe was not able to obtain 

another lawyer, he would proceed pro se. RP 11. The court continued 

the hearing. RP 18. 

One month later, attorney Andrew Subin carne to court on Mr. 

Aquiningoc's behalf. He said he was happy to represent Mr. 

Aquiningoc but had not been retained. RP 19-20. Mr. Aquiningoc asked 

for some more time for his family to gather the necessary funds. RP 20. 

2 The verbatim report of proceedings from the resentencing hearings are 
contained in a single volume, referred to as "RP." Transcripts from the earlier 
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The court agreed but told Mr. Aquiningoc that his present attorney 

Darrin Hall would represent him if "Mr. Subin hasn't substituted in" by 

the next hearing. RP 22. 

Mr. Aquiningoc could not afford to hire Mr. Subin. RP 25. He 

thanked the judge for letting him try to obtain his own attorney and said 

he would prefer represent himself rather than being represented by his 

assigned attorney Mr. Hall. RP 25. 

The court warned him that it would be better to have an attorney 

and asked if he understood "all those things that are used in the process 

of sentencing someone in this state?" RP 30. Mr. Aquiningoc said he 

understood "enough" and the court accepted his request to represent 

himself without further inquiry into his understanding of the charges or 

punishment. RP 30-32. 

Over Mr. Aquiningoc's objection, the court determined that his 

offender score was "9" for second degree assault and "8" for tampering 

with a witness, the two felony offenses for which he was convicted. CP 

85. He imposed an exceptional sentence of 102 months for second 

degree assault and standard range, concurrent terms for the remaining 

offenses. RP 64; CP 86. 

trial and sentencing proceedings are referenced by the date of the proceeding. 
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Pertinent facts are discussed in further detail in the relevant 

argument sections below. 

E. ARGUMENT. 

1. Mr. Aquiningoc did not knowingly, intelligently, 
and voluntarily waive his right to counsel when 
the court did not ensure he understood the 
potential punishment he faced at sentencing. 

a. The right to counsel may be waived only when the 
defendant clearly understands the possible penalties he 
faces if convicted. 

A valid and effective waiver of the right to the assistance of 

counsel must unequivocally demonstrate that the accused is competent, 

and knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waives the assistance of 

counsel. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 

L.Ed.2d 562 (1975); State v. Silva, 108 Wn.App. 536, 539, 31 P.3d 729 

(2001); U.S. Const. amend. 6; Const. art. I, § 22. The validity ofa 

waiver is measured by the defendant's understanding at the time he 

waives his right to counsel. United States v. Mohawk, 20 F.3d 1480, 

1484 (9th Cir. 1994). 

The knowledge and intelligent understanding that the pro se 

defendant must possess when validly waiving counsel includes at a 

minimum, "the nature of the charges, the statutory offenses included 
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within them, the range of allowable punishments thereunder, possible 

defenses to the charges and circumstances in mitigation thereof, and all 

other facts essential to a broad understanding of the whole matter." Von 

Moltke v. Gillies, 332 U.S. 708, 724, 68 S. Ct. 316, 92 L. Ed. 309 

(1948); State v. Woods, 143 Wn.2d 561, 588, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001). 

It is the judge's role to "make certain" the waiver of counsel is 

understandingly made by conducting "a penetrating and comprehensive 

examination of all the circumstances." Von Moltke, 332 U.S. at 724. To 

ensure that a defendant "truly appreciates the dangers and 

disadvantages of self-representation," he or she must waive counsel 

"with an apprehension of the nature of the charges, the statutory 

offenses included within them, [and] the range of allowable 

punishments thereunder." United States v. Moskovits, 86 F.3d 1303, 

1306 (3d Cir. 1996) (quoting, inter alia, Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835 and 

Von Moltke, 332 U.S. at 724; emphasis added in Moskovits). 

In Moskovits, the defendant received a IS-year sentence after 

trial, but the court granted his motion for a new trial as well as his 

motion to represent himself. 86 F.3d at l305. The court entered into a 

"lengthy and detailed colloquy" with the defendant about the dangers 
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and disadvantages of self-representation but did not mention the 

possibility that punishment could increase after a new trial. Id. at 1306. 

When determining whether he had validly waived counsel, the 

court refused to assume that information presented during the first 

trial's sentencing hearing sufficiently informed the defendant of the 

possible punishment he faced if convicted after a second trial. Id. at 

1307. Because a court must "indulge every reasonable presumption 

against waiver of fundamental constitutional rights," it refused to 

impute some understanding of the sentencing consequences to the 

defendant and held that the waiver was inadequate. Id. at 1308-09 

(citing Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458,464,58 S.Ct. 1019, 1022,82 

L.Ed. 1461 (1938)). 

Similarly, in Silva, the defendant demonstrated his 

understanding of the nature of the charges and their gravity. 108 

Wn.App. at 540. He was familiar with trial practice and he showed 

"exceptional skill" in his pretrial motions. Id. at 540-41. But at the time 

Mr. Silva waived counsel, he was not informed of the possible 

punishment he faced. Id. at 541. This Court explained: 

even the most skillful of defendants cannot make an 
intelligent choice without knowledge of all facts material 
to the decision. Silva was never advised of the maximum 
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possible penalties for the crimes with which he was 
charged. Absent this critical information, Silva could not 
make a knowledgeable waiver of his constitutional right 
to counsel. 

Id. Although Mr. Silva received information about the standard 

sentencing range, he was not informed that the judge had authority to 

enter consecutive terms or otherwise impose an exceptional sentence.3 

The court's failure to explain the maximum possible penalties Mr. Silva 

faced undermined the validity of his waiver of counsel. Id.; see also 

United States v. Erskine, 355 F.3d 1161, 1168 (9th Cir. 2004) ("Faretta 

waiver is valid only if the court also ascertained that he understood the 

possible penalties he faced"). 

"On appeal, the government carries the burden of establishing 

the legality ofthe waiver." Erskine, 355 F.3d 1167. The "government 

has a heavy burden and [courts] must indulge in all reasonable 

presumptions against waiver." United States v. Forrester, 512 F.3d 500, 

507 (9th Cir. 2008). 

Although there may be some distinction between the 

extensiveness of the pro se colloquy required before trial as opposed to 

3 Mr. Silva's sentencing hearing predated the limitations placed on a 
court's discretion to impose an exceptional sentence in Blakely v. Washington, 
542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004). 
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for a new sentencing proceeding, this "does not, however, eliminate the 

need for the district court to make an inquiry sufficient to support a 

finding that the waiver of counsel is voluntary, knowing and 

intelligent." United States v. Salerno, 61 F.3d 214,219 (3d Cir.1995). 

The warnings given to Mr. Aquiningoc prior to his waiver of his 

right to counsel did not convey the essential information that would 

permit a valid waiver of the right to an attorney. 

b. The court did not accurately inform and discuss 
with Mr. Aquiningoc the possible penalties at the 
time he waived his right to counsel. 

Mr. Aquiningoc returned to trial court after a partially successful 

appeal and immediately renewed a request he had made during his trial 

to discharge his assigned attorney. CP 46-50. He told the court he 

would try to hire an attorney, but ifhe could not get a different lawyer, 

he would prefer to represent himself. RP 9, 12,19-20. When Mr. 

Aquiningoc was unable to obtain the money he needed to hire a lawyer, 

he told the court he would waive his right to counsel. RP 25 . 

Before letting him represent himself, the judge conducted a brief 

colloquy. RP 28-31. The judge did not mention Mr. Aquiningoc's 

charges at the time he waived his right to counsel. Id. He did not 

discuss the possible penalties that applied to Mr. Aquiningoc. Id. 
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The only mention the court made about sentencing issues lacked 

specific infonnation pertinent to assessing the magnitude of the 

potential sentence Mr. Aquiningoc faced. RP 30. The court spoke only 

of procedural matters, saying, 

So since what we're talking about is what is the 
appropriate level of sentence here, at this point in time, 
have you studied the law about the process of 
sentencing? Are you familiar with those guidelines and 
the sentencing grid and all those things that are used in 
the process of sentencing someone in this state? 

RP 30. Mr. Aquiningoc answered, "Yes, Your Honor." Id. The court 

did not follow with any reference to the class of felony, maximum 

penalty, or possibility of consecutive sentences. Id. 

Instead, the court said generically, "Okay, and do you 

understand do you think the legal basis for exceptional sentences as 

opposed to standard range sentences?" Id. 

Mr. Aquiningoc gave the ambiguous response: "In the 

professional capacity Your Honor, I do not, I do not, but as just a 

layman in propria persona representing myself, I studied enough to 

understand, yes, Your Honor." Id. 

Without inquiring into the nature ofMr. Aquiningoc's "layman" 

understanding of "enough," the court next explained that Mr. 

12 



Aquiningoc would not receive any assistance from the court. Id. "I 

won't assist you this way or that way. That's not going to happen. You 

understand that?" RP 31. Mr. Aquiningoc said he understood. Id. 

The court warned Mr. Aquiningoc that it "would be better if you 

have an attorney" but accepted Mr. Aquiningoc's request to represent 

himself, with prior counsel remaining in the courtroom as standby if 

Mr. Aquiningoc sought help. RP 31-32. 

This discussion between the court and Mr. Aquiningoc does not 

establish a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of counsel based 

on an understanding of the danger of self-representation, particularly as 

premised on the degree of punishment at risk in the sentencing hearing. 

The "complexity and difficulty applying the SRA" (Sentencing Reform 

Act), increases with each year's amendments but the court did not 

inquire into Mr. Aquiningoc' s understanding of the degree of 

punishment at stake. In re LaChapelle, 153 Wn.2d 1, 7, 100 P.3d 805 

(2004). 

Mr. Aquiningoc' s desire to separate himself from his assigned 

attorney does not demonstrate he possessed the requisite knowledge 

necessary for a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of counsel. 

His written motion asking to discharge counsel did not mention the 
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charges, standard range, or statutory maximum. CP 47-49. Instead, he 

complained about how defense counsel had not spent time with him or 

investigated mitigating factors he wished to present. CP 48-49. 

The court's colloquy did not include "critical information 

concerning the nature of the charges in this case and the maximum 

possible penalties [Mr. Aquiningoc] faced in this case." Silva, 108 

Wn.App. at 540. Like Mr. Silva, Mr. Aquiningoc 

was never advised of the maximum possible penalties for 
the crimes with which he was charged. Absent this 
critical information, [he] could not make a 
knowledgeable waiver of his constitutional right to 
counsel. .... 

This information was essential to assess the risk of 
proceeding without the assistance of counsel and [he] did 
not have the benefit of it. 

Id. at 541-42. 

c. The inadequate waiver of counsel is structural error 
requiring reversal. 

Harmless error analysis is inapplicable where the deprivation of 

the right to counsel is at issue. Silva, 108 Wn.App. at 542. Due to the 

lack of record establishing a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent wavier 

of counsel, reversal and remand for a new sentencing proceeding are 

required. Id. 
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2. The court sentenced Mr. Aquiningoc based on an 
erroneous offender score by failing to recalculate his 
criminal history after the Court of Appeals reversed a 
conviction and disregarding the insufficient proof of 
contested prior convictions 

a. The court was required to sentence Mr. Aquiningoc based 
on an accurate offender score. 

In Mr. Aquiningoc's initial appeal, this Court held that it 

violated double jeopardy for Mr. Aquiningoc to be convicted of two 

counts of tampering with a witness. CP 36. The prosecution conceded 

this error on appeal. Id. This Court's mandate ordered the trial court to 

vacate one ofMr. Aquiningoc's convictions. CP 45. 

Vacating one of Mr. Aquiningoc' s convictions necessitated the 

recalculation of his criminal history. The standard sentencing range is 

premised on adding together the defendant's current and prior 

convictions. RCW 9.94A.589(l)(a); RCW 9.94A.525. The trial court 

vacated one conviction after remand but did not reduce Mr. 

Aquiningoc's criminal history. The court resentenced Mr. Aquiningoc 

based on the identical criminal history score used at the prior 

sentencing hearing, treating his score as "9" for second degree assault 

and "8" for tampering with a witness. Compare CP 20 (prior J&S), with 

CP 85 (resentencing J&S). 
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The only change that happened between the first and second 

sentencing hearings was the Court of Appeals opinion vacating one of 

the felony convictions used at sentencing. The State did not assert new 

criminal history points that it had not used at the prior sentencing 

hearing. RP 32.When Mr. Aquiningoc objected to the accuracy of his 

offender score, the State opposed any recalculation of Mr. 

Aquiningoc's criminal history. RP 6, 10, 11-12. 

The prosecution insisted that the criminal history score should 

not be altered because the Court of Appeals had not directed the court 

to reconsider Mr. Aqiningoc' s criminal history. RP 6, 11-12. It is true 

that the Court of Appeals mandate orders the vacation of one conviction 

without mentioning the next step of resentencing Mr. Aquiningoc based 

on a recalculated offender score. CP 45. However, the crux of a double 

jeopardy violation is that a person has been impermissibly punished two 

times for a single conviction. See State v. Turner, 169 Wn.2d 448, 464, 

238 P.3d 461 (2010). It necessarily follows that when this Court 

ordered the vacation of a witness tampering conviction, it also ordered 

that this conviction could not be used in the criminal history and 

required the trial court to recalculate Mr. Aquiningoc' s standard range 

sentence. 
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Even when the court imposes an exceptional sentence, it "must 

first consider the presumptive punishment as legislatively determined 

for an ordinary commission of the crime before it may adjust it up or 

down to account for the compelling nature of the aggravating or 

mitigating circumstances of the particular case." State v. Parker, l32 

Wn.2d 182, 187, 937 P.2d 575 (1997). The court is not excused from its 

obligation to accurately assess Mr. Aquiningoc's standard sentencing 

range based on proven criminal history by virtue of the exceptional 

sentence it imposed. Id. The court's failure to reduce Mr. Aquiningoc's 

offender score by one point after vacating a prior conviction, when no

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