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

able to hire private counsel by the next hearing date that they would 

proceed with resentencing with or without that attorney. RP 21. It 

informed Aquiningoc if he still wanted to represent himself at that time, 

they would address it then, and the court continued the matter for another 

30 days. RP 22. 

A month later, Aquiningoc informed the court he had been unable 

to raise the money to hire the private attorney and informed the court that 

he would be representing himself. RP 25. When asked why, Aquiningoc 

explained that he and the public defender never were on the same level 

when they discussed the mitigating circumstances and points issue he 

wanted to address. RP 25-26. He told the judge that no one else 

understood his case like he did, that there were certain things he wanted to 

point out to the judge, that he'd been working hard at getting some 

certifications to change his life. RP 26. After explaining what a "conflict 

14 



of interest" was, the court asked whether there was just a disagreement or 

a true conflict of interest. RP 27. Aquiningoc stated that the dispute went 

back to before the trial when the public defender had mentioned that he 

had previously been a victim of strangulation. He also felt that counsel 

should have objected more at trial, and that counsel had told him it was a 

waste oftime coming back to Whatcom County.6 RP 27. When asked 

specifically what the concern was regarding the issues the court had to 

address at resentencing, Aquiningoc explained they just didn't see "eye to 

eye," and that they hadn't gotten along throughout. RP 28. 

The court then inquired what experience, if any, Aquiningoc had 

had in representing himself. RP 28-29. Aquiningoc indicated that he had 

been litigating a public records act matter related to this case, but admitted 

that he had not represented himself in a criminal case or at a sentencing. 

RP 29. The judge then inquired ifhe had studied anything about the 

process of sentencing and asked if he were familiar with the guidelines 

and the sentencing grid. RP 30. Aquiningoc said that he was. RP 30. The 

judge then asked ifhe understood the legal basis for an exceptional 

sentences versus a standard range sentence. RP 30. Aquiningoc stated that 

did not in a professional capacity, but he had studied it enough in order to 

6 The public defender had previously responded to the strangulation allegation and 
responded to the "waste of time" allegation. 7/18/11 RP 5-6, RP 66. 
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represent himself. RP 30. The court advised that if Aquiningoc were to 

proceed pro se, the court would not be assisting him at all, that it was just 

his job to conduct the proceeding and to decide the outcome. RP 30-31. 

Aquiningoc stated he understood. The court then informed him that his 

request at this stage in the case was unusual and advised him against 

proceeding pro se. The judge explained that the public defender better 

understood how to present information and the intricacies of the legal 

system, and urged him to continue with appointed counsel. RP 31. 

Aquiningoc agreed to permit the public defender to "stand beside [him] as 

additional counsel," but still wanted to represent himself. RP 31. The 

court asked if he were ready to proceed, to which Aquiningoc said he was. 

RP 32. 

While the judge could have reiterated the maximum penalty to 

Aquiningoc, Aquiningoc was already aware of what it was, having already 

gone through sentencing once before. The scope of remand was limited to 

vacating one of the tampering convictions, addressing whether the court 

would have imposed the exceptional sentence based only on the one 

remaining aggravator, and the parameters of the no contact order. 

Aquiningoc was insistent on representing himself even before it was clear 

that he wasn't able to hire a private attorney. Aquiningoc did not request a 

different public defender be appointed. In fact there was no basis to do so, 
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and Aquiningoc does not contend otherwise on appeal. The court delayed 

the resentencing for over three months in order to allow Aquiningoc to 

hire private counsel. He could not do so and refused to proceed with the 

public defender as appointed counsel. Aquiningoc had the assistance of 

the public defender as standby counsel. 

As in Deweese, the court was faced with permitting Aquiningoc to 

proceed pro se or to require the public defender's continued representation 

over the insistence of Aquiningoc that he be permitted to represent 

himself. See a/so, U.S. v. Gallup, 838 F.2d 105, 109 (4th Cir. 1988) (once 

court determines that substitution of counsel is not warranted, court can 

insist that defendant proceed with current counselor go pro se); U.S. v. 

Mitchell, 788 F.2d 1232 (th Cir. 1986) (court's decision to require 

defendant to proceed pro se with standby counselor with defense counsel 

was not impermissible where defendant's request to proceed pro se due to 

differences of opinion about the case and its presentation was made the 

day oftrial). The colloquy was sufficient to ensure that Aquiningoc's 

waiver was knowing, intelligent and voluntary where Aquiningoc was 

otherwise aware of what his maximum, penalty was. Under these 

circumstances, it would have been an abuse of discretion to not have 

permitted Aquiningoc to represent himself. See, Madsen, 168 Wn.2d 

496(trial court abused its discretion in denying defendant's right to self-
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representation where defendant's request was unequivocal, timely, 

voluntary, knowing and intelligent, although court's colloquy was limited 

to asking defendant why he wanted to represent himself). 

U.S. v. Moskovits, 86 F.3d 1303 (3 rd Cir. 1996), relied upon by 

Aquiningoc, is distinguishable. In that case, the court noted that the record 

was "not at all clear that [the defendant] had been made aware when he 

waived his right to counsel before [the judge] that the original 15 year 

sentence would not serve as a ceiling on the sentence he could receive in 

the event he was convicted again." Id. at 1307. The court therefore 

concluded that there was no basis for inferring that the defendant was 

aware at the time he waived counsel for his retrial that he faced the 

possibility of an increased sentence if found guilty again. Id. In fact, the 

case distinguished another case, U.S. v. McFadden, 630 F.2d 963 (3 rd Cir. 

1980), cert. den., 450 U.S. 1043 (1981), that concluded since the 

defendant had otherwise been made aware of the range of punishment he 

faced, the court was not required to inform him again at the time of the 

colloquy regarding the waiver of counsel. In distinguishing that case, the 

court noted that the defendant in McFadden had twice been informed of 

the range of punishment he faced. Similarly here as in McFadden, 

Aquiningoc was at least twice informed of the maximum punishment he 
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faced, once at his preliminary hearing and the second time at the original 

sentencing hearing. 

2. As Aquiningoc didn't challenge the validity of 
any of his criminal history in his first appeal, nor 
at the resentencing, he cannot challenge the 
validity of his conviction history in this appeal. 

Aquiningoc is procedurally barred from raising the issue regarding 

the evidentiary support for his criminal conviction history because he 

didn't raise it in his first sentencing, didn't raise it in his first appeal and 

didn't raise it on remand at the resentencing. The court did not revisit the 

validity of any individual convictions. Moreover, Aquiningoc did not 

contest the existence of his burglary in the second degree from 1991 nor 

his juvenile history at resentencing. He only argued that his offender 

score was wrong because of what it was listed as in a prior judgment and 

sentence. Aquiningoc does not assert on appeal that his offender score is 

wrong based on the criminal history listed in the judgment and sentences. 

If this Court were to determine that another resentencing hearing were 

necessary, the State should have the ability to present additional evidence 

upon remand because Aquiningoc did not object specifically to any 

individual conviction history below. 

a. Aquiningoc cannot raise any issue regarding the 
validity of his criminal history because he failed 
to raise this issue previously. 
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Aquiningoc did not assert any issue regarding the sufficiency of 

the showing for his criminal conviction history until this appeal. 

Appellate courts generally are precluded from considering issues that a 

party could have raised in a prior appeal from the same case, but didn't. 

State v. Barberio, 121 Wn.2d 48, 50-51,846 P.2d 519 (1993); see also 

State v. Worl, 129 Wn.2d 416, 424-425,918 P.2d 905 (1996) (law of case 

doctrine precludes appellate courts from considering issues that a party 

raised or could have raised in prior appeal). Therefore, the issue of the 

validity of Aquiningoc's criminal conviction history is not properly before 

this Court. 

"The trial court's discretion to resentence on remand is limited by 

the scope of the appellate court's mandate." State v. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d 

28, 42, 216 P.3d 393 (2009). The rules of appellate procedure state: 

If a trial court decision is otherwise properly before the appellate 
court, the appellate court may at the instance of a party review and 
determine the propriety of a decision of the trial court even though 
a similar decision was not disputed in an earlier review of the same 
case. 

RAP 2.5(c)(1). The Supreme Court has interpreted this rule narrowly: 

This rule does not revive automatically every issue or decision 
which was not raised in an earlier appeal. Only if the trial court, on 
remand, exercised its independent judgment, reviewed and ruled 
again on such issue does it become an appealable question. 
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Barberio, 121 Wn.2d at 50; accord, State v. Parmelee, 172 Wn. App. 899, 

905,292 P.3d 799 (20 13)(issue becomes appealable after remand only if 

trial court exercised discretion to review and rule again). This rule 

contemplates that the trial court addressed an issue that had not been 

previously litigated in the prior appeal. A decisive factor in determining 

whether an appeals court may exercise its discretion to review an issue not 

previously raised in the first appeal is whether the trial court in fact 

independently reviewed the issue on remand from the appellate decision. 

Barberio, 121 Wn.2d at 51 ; see e.g., Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d at 43 (fact that a 

trial court had discretion to resentence on remand did not revive . 

defendant's right to appeal where trial court did not in fact exercise such 

discretion). 

In State v. Parmelee, 172 Wn. App. 899,292 P.3d 799, rev. den., 

177 Wn.2d 1027 (2013), on remand from vacation of the exceptional 

sentence, the defendant argued that the offender score was wrong. The 

trial court, however, stated that the only issue before it was imposition of 

the exceptional sentence given that the case was otherwise final. Id. at 

907. The judge made it clear that the only issue she was addressing was 

the limited issue regarding the exceptional sentence, even though she 

permitted the defendant to make a record and argue his scoring issues. Id. 

907-08. On appeal from the remand the appellate court declined to reach 

21 



the offender score issues because they had not been considered by the 

prior appellate court and the judge had not independently reviewed and 

ruled upon those issues on remand. Id. at 908; see a/so, State v. Traicoff, 

93 Wn. App. 248, 967 P.2d 1277 (1998), rev. den., 138 Wn.2d 1003 

(1999) (appellate court declined to review issue regarding community 

placement conditions because the defendant had not challenged the 

conditions in his original appeal and the trial court had not revisited the 

conditions on remand when it corrected the length of the term of 

community placement). 

At the time of the original sentencing, the State submitted an 

exhibit to support its request for the finding of the unscored criminal 

history aggravator. Supp. CP _ Sub Nom. 45. In that summary, the State 

provided a copy of the plea statement and judgment and sentence from 

Aquiningoc 's 1991 second degree burglary, in addition to a DCH and an 

NCIC III. The plea statement, listed Aquiningoc's understanding of his 

criminal history based on the prosecutor's summary, which included 10 

juvenile felonies, 8 of which are listed in the judgment and sentences in 

this case. CP 20, 85, Supp. CP_ Sub Nom. 45. The prosecutor informed 

the court that he had a total of 15 felonies, nine prior juvenile felonies, 

three prior adult felonies, and the three current felony convictions, and 

asserted that Aquiningoc's offender score on the second degree assault 
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was more than nine. 8/2211IRP 5, 11. Defense counsel did not contest the 

prosecutor's summary of Aquiningoc's criminal history, stating "He has, 

the criminal history has been outlined." 8/2211IRP 18. 

When the case came back on remand, Aquiningoc told the court he 

wanted a continuance in part to review his "felony scoring history," and 

the prosecutor interjected that she believed a review was unnecessary 

because that was not part of the remand from the Court of Appeals. RP 4-

6. Despite the prosecutor's objection, the court agreed to continue the 

matter and indicated it wanted to review the sentencing transcript and to 

see what Aquiningoc's issue was. RP 6-7. 

At the next hearing, Aquiningoc referenced his offender score as a 

reason why he wanted to represent himself. RP 10. When the prosecutor 

told the court that she didn't understand how the offender score was going 

to change, the judge responded that he believed there were two issues 

before the court: 1) whether to impose the exceptional sentence without 

consideration of the unscored history aggravator, and 2) the no contact 

order. RP 12. 

At the resentencing, in addressing Aquiningoc's desire to go pro 

se, the court explained again that there were only limited issues regarding 

sentencing that they were to address on remand. RP 28. Aquiningoc 

argued there had been an error in a prior judgment and sentence, that the 
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burglary in the first degree had been dismissed, and since the burglary in 

the second degree (sic/ had been dismissed, he should have been a three 

point offender in his 1995 judgment and sentence instead of a four point 

offender as it stated. RP 41. When he asserted at he was a seven point 

offender on the second degree assault and a six otherwise, the court 

inquired of the prosecutor ifthere was an issue regarding points. RP 46. 

The court reviewed the criminal history and stated there were 11 

felonies dating back to 1985. RP 47. He inquired if any washed out, and 

the prosecutor informed him that they did not. Standby defense counsel 

also later confirmed that he had extensively researched whether any of the 

juvenile felonies had washed out, and that he and the prosecutor had 

specifically reviewed the criminal convictions together to determine if any 

of them washed out. RP 63. When standby defense counsel informed the 

court that he was pretty confident that the scoring was correct, the court 

stated that he hadn't been presented with anything to show they had 

washed out or that the scoring was incorrect, and that if he had been, he 

would correct it. RP 64. The court indicated that its understanding was 

that all the felonies counted, though they may not in the future, and 

explained to Aquiningoc that there wasn ' t anything he could do about 

7 The DCH shows that the first degree burglary charge was dismissed as part of the 1995 
cause number. CP 83, Supp. CP _ Sub Nom. 45. 
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prior judgments that may have had incorrect offender scores in them. RP 

64. When standby counsel inquired what the specific sentence was that 

the court was imposing, the court stated that it was not changing the 

sentence itself and confirmed it was imposing 102 months. RP 65. 

Aquiningoc did not contest the validity of his convictions in the 

original sentencing and he did not contest the validity of the history on 

remand. What he did contest was his offender score, and this was based 

upon what a prior judgment had stated his offender score was. The court 

did not readdress the validity of his convictions on remand, and in fact did 

not revisit the calculation of his offender score. As in Parmalee, the trial 

court did not address the validity of Aquiningoc's criminal conviction 

history upon remand, although the court did permit Aquiningoc to make a 

record and argument regarding his offender score. Aquiningoc' s 

assertions about what his offender score was did not revive this issue. See, 

Parmelee, 172 Wn. App. at 908(although finding of offender score was 

necessary to judge's consideration as to whether to impose an exceptional 

sentence, judge's finding did not mean that trial court independently 

reviewed and ruled again as to the offender score). The validity of the 

Aquiningoc's criminal conviction history is not properly before this Court 

because the trial court did not independently review and rule on that issue 

on remand. 
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Moreover, Aquiningoc admitted the existence of his 1991 burglary 

conviction when he referenced its judgment and sentence. Aquiningoc 

admitted he was convicted of a felony in 1991 when he argued that he was

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